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Rosalia Wax:  
John Sawada:

Good morning, is this Mr. Sawada?
Speaking.  ** /

Rosalie Wax:  
John Sawada:

This is Rosalie Wax, who called you I  believe yeste rday.  
Yes.

Rosalie Wax: If you have time to be interviewed about your life history, why fine, iff*  
tk&ie%r-crF �^^ i ! ^n  1^rruptians~^~wk%x^e*^^ can ■ stop-, and -da  ..iPizgauu ■
I  wondered if there were any questions that you wan ted to ask me about this  
study I'm doing before we start.

John Sawada: Is this in a book or anything or what? Are you writ ing a term paper?

Rosalie Wax: I 'm 70 years old  - I'm a retired professor and I  was at Tube Lake for two  
years studying there.

John Sawada: I  see.

Rosalie Wax: I  do not have to ionite a book. I'm only going to w rite a report  
Roek^feirter~~Fow&sztien and I  won't use anybody's real name.

John Sawada: I  see.

 ̂ Rosalie Wax:
gSUL- $~£LL~

f '>1,1 rnonymus I  had some Japanese American friend s  Is-  
and I've interviewed them and this was so interesti ng that I  thought I would  
interview a few more people who were at Tube Lake.

John Sawada: I  see.

Rosalie Wax: Mtr-^^hr �^wjd^-~be~ -bo-dust write^a jrevort on ho^bhis-^kri ^e^sd,them«. What  
h a p p e n e d . - ' I ' m  getting the life history* Is that en ough?

John Sawada: Yes.  " ^ 1 n r vC^ *

Rosalie Wax: Well, I'll ask: What do you remember about your lif e before the  
evacuation?

John Sawada: Just a minute, let me get a pen here.

Rosalie Wax: What do you remember about your life before the eva cuation, what were you  
doing and .  *. .

/ J John Sawada:

Rosalie Wax:  
John Sawada:

I was. .going to first year in college.

First year in colleae.
Yes.

Rosalie Wax: And what were your plans, what were your hopes for the future?

John Sawada: Well, I had - all my high school was my co,mercial studies. That is to say.

&
bookkeeping, accounting, and this line. And I had a nticipated at that time, I  
loved accounting and everything so much, that I  pla nned to go on into higher  
accounting fobs, you know, accounting, CPA, and thi s and that. This was my  
goal.

Rosalie Wax:  
John Sawada:

And vfoere were you living then?  
In Sacramento.

Rosalie Wax: In Sacramento. And how did your payments earn their  living?
John Sawada: They were on a farm.



John Sawada 2

jyj. -j And t ^  jmdañu~aékrn&w* \&ere you born in  Sacramento
cmd what year?

JS: I  was b o m  in Sacramento in 1922. July 5, 1922»

RW: Can you tell me bow you felt when you heard the gov ernment announcement that the
Japanese American people were going to be ordered t o leave their homes and report to  

the assembly centers?
JS: I  remember  J was at school uñen they posted all this thvng out o n the highway.  Jow  

know the highway right in front of our school there , Sacramento Junior College. And  
the order came out and uou see all these posters on  the street. And I  said, 'Well,  
maybe I  shouldn't let this thing bother me.' But th en things were so erratic - I  never  

believed it, you know, but it was there.

RW: Can I  gust ask you - it was so. ..
JS: It was real disturbing. Well, it's kind of hard to concentrate with this kind of

atmosphere, you know. And so, I didn't know what to  dosJput anyway, I  said.fPtg.ybe I  
should finish'ffad I  tried to finish, but everythin g, the iñole school itself was m  a  

roar, too, you know what I  mean?

RW: No, I'd like to hear about that. .  •
JS: Of course, there were a lot of Japanese students in  that school and everybody is gust  

sort of giving up. And I  said, 'Gee, I  would like t o finish this semester. But
everything was such a hectic thing to do that it wa s that it all came down to a point-  
i f  you got an "A" in a class, you settled for a "B" . If you got a "B", you settled for  
a "C". You know, it went that way and so it finally  ended up that I  think I  left  
school February, March, April  - about a month and a half or two months before the  

semester ended.

JS: Since I did not go back in the same line of course,  that is to finish accounting, I  
didn't even look into whether I  got credit for it o r not.

RW: I  see. I  can appreciate that too. I  was going to te ll you that a fair number of
people I ask ’thire-quastion — who  were"vb&ut-«ye w  u yu  ■ *t,«happened � thnjmifkey tell

me they gust couldn't believe it at first.
JS: That,'s right. I  told my brother, I said, ’Paul, th ey’ll never take us , I  mean we have to  

go.' This was my ultimate deduction, you know. 'We' re citizens,' I said. Yes, my folks,  
they might have to take, or but they will Yiever ta ke. •evacuate ■ us from our
home. This was my honest belief. As everybody aroun d in my neighborhood sold their  
equipment, their household things and everything, I  said, ’We'll never go.' So we kept  
everything. We didn't even bother to sell things or  anything until about four days  
before evacuation. And then I told my brother, I  sa id, 'Loon, gee, you know , I'll  
never believe this, but it looks like we're govng t o have to go.' And he said, 'leah,  
it sure looks like i t . ’ But we didn't sell anything  up to that time . . .a week before  
evacuation. When we came right down to it, I said, 'Gee, it looks like they ’̂re going  
to really pull us out. ’ So, I said, 'We'll have to do something,’ because it sure  
looks like we have to go. Now, on this basis we Jia d the farm equipment and everything  
and the crop and everything, I  said, 'Well, let ’s s ee what the best thing we can do?'  
And so, we had some good friends, Caucasian friends , and so in Sacramento, there is a  
man by the name of John Brunner, a furniture store,  a very well-to-do man. And we knew  
this man from a while back through some misfortune,  that is to say, my brother got into  
an accident and Mr. Brunner's car was one of them t hat got hit. And we got to know  
this man and my mother had purchased some appliance s, .gas range or something from m.m  
and she was paying for it and we got to know this m an. So^ar-very-•rtte&mwxik,— ssti my
brother went to see  Afr. Brunner and said, 'I got all this equipment I h ave to do  
something - JL-th&ughb wsr*dr-neven, mova-r-but^w^^ gt to-do something*- it looks like we  
are going to have to go* � But he said, 'Well, fine, wait a minute.' He had a  brother-  
in-law who lived about three-four miles from where we were farming and he said he needs

d {  RW: Did you ever get credit fo r^ ta t  semester?
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JS: some equipment and said, 'Maybe we could take it of f youv hands.' So, he said •Okay ' 
and we contacted him and we just sold all our equip ment to this man without losing any  
money, which was. .we weve fortunate . So we transf erred everything to this mani w & ^ b t

Now, we kept the truck to the end. We said, 'We'd l ike to use  
the truck to the end, because we have to•  •the owner of the land. .the ranch we were  
farming, said, 'Why don't you put all your bedding and things in my basement of this  
house ossd that he has on this farm and then lock i t up.' So we did all this and locked  
it wpĵ cMd everything and then,the- last day he caj jie after the truck and then iiie.  
fctfnily i<hat was supposed to } leave about thrhe— four days later, he held onto his truck  

too, Whifeh was sold and he had it and he took it t o the Civic”, Auditoriums i �WhcT*&~b&:::iti �ne  
dUDV&&&: to congregate.

RW: I  see. You mentioned your brother. .  .how many brothers and sisters did you,have?
JS: There are seven brothers and sisters. There are fou r boys and three girls, and my  

folks.

RW: Where were you in this lineage, were you the second  boy or. . .
JS: I'm the third one.

RW: You're the third, ye&€*« I'm glad you told this sto ry, because you're one of the few who  
were able to do this, as you probably know. Many pe ople lost everything they had.

JS: Well, like I  told my birother, 'They'll yiever forc e us to go, because we're citizens!'  
We're citizens and no way in the world that they co uld force us. So^bis-war- ;yes,

"but we ' re citizens. But ~'the picture looked real  gr'im.aqd the last weefC^I said, 'Gee,  
you ¿nowT it sure look bad^ that might have to,*go. ' \So we sort of straightened  
everything out in three-f&ur days\ which was unbeli evable^ because tfc got rid of the  
equipment and we had spme crops that were coming ou t andf I  said, 'bee, whqt are we  
going fto do with thisf.* I think we were gust goin g to nave to ledve it.  T And 
fortipately a man cqfne and said he wants to M y  the  crop. So we said, 'fine'. And so  
I  don't know, my byother put some price onJet and h e wept to the back and he goi  
everything settled and he sold tn)% whole^Jming. We  were kind of fortunate that things  
worked^out lifacthis. But I  woulant&Oer had believe d that tie had to leave -?̂

RW: To which assembly Center were you sent?
JS: Wallerga.

RW. Wallerga. Was -there anything that happened in that  Assembly Center, that makes you  
feel good today when you think about it?

JS: No. My deduction of the camp of that nature, nothin g good could come out. That is to  
say, yes people are working, but how much work is. there? Kitchen work, maintenance, and  
they had nothing to do. No schools were set up, not hing good would have come out, that  
��� to say, I  was old enough to figure that 'No, nothi ng good is goi?ig to come out of  
this.' . . .At this assembly center because people are gust loafing, and they had more
time on their hands and I  said, 'Well, I have to ke ep busy . because there is too much  
time.’ f

RW. Which of your experiences in the Assembly Center do  you recall the most strongly?
JS: In Assembly center?

RW: Yes.

JS: Well, one thing that I never could get over as how was it that a citizen like us, we
were b o m  here and a citizen could be behind barbwir e without. � �  learned in history.  .  
innocent until proven guilty. And this whole thing come true and we're behind barbed  
wire with soldiers watching us from the outside. Th is is something that I  could never  
believe that this country would do. And I  felt, 'Ge e, is this what they've been  
teaching us all this time.' It really comes down to  that you study history, you study  
t,.e Constitution and is this vhat it all adds up t o, they could gust lift you up, take  
you away, and throw you in the camp like this becau se of my ancestry. This  &  really
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JS: hit me hard and I  said, ’Well, I  can’t change it; I ’m born. What am I  going to do? ’

RW: You had done no wrong at all .
JS: That’s it} and they would throw us behind barbed wi re and give you a number and, you

JS: I  thought, ’Gee, now what am I  to believe  £ ta horn am I  to believe l ’ These are the
questions that bothered me. About the second week w e were in the assembly center," we  
got a letter from this fellow we used to lease the land, the farm, , and he said

I  said ’Gee, how rotten are the people?’ I  could ne ver get over this. You ’re in an  
assembly center, military police are around guardin g you  - who wants to escape? You  
know what I  mean? We have no way of getting away. A nd yet here’s a man that wrote us  
a letter saying that someone broke in and took all of our belongings. This was three

know, Whether he sold it, I don ’t know. And these a re things that come about. It  
really frustrated me, I  said, ’Gee, ’ you know, i t ’ s so hard to say, • .So anyway these  
are the things that bothered me. I said, ’I  could n ever get over this.’ That we are  
behind barbed wire, I  could hardly believe it.

RW: Yes.
JS: J knew there were friends outside that understood, yo u know. There was Mr.

Pastalockwa, who was my accounting teacher at the J unior College, and he had an empty  
garage that we brought some things over for him to hold and he was very nice about it.  
We left little thing like old typewriters and thing s like that with him and we didn’t  
lose it or anything and he was very good about it a nd we claimed it after the war and  
this and that. He was really somebody that I  said, ’Well, he gives me a little hope,  
you know. ’ And I  had this kind of belief, but then  I would never believed that they had  
uplifted us. . .

RW: • • .grid done that to you. I  have a question that I  he sitate to ask. .was it was still  
a comfort to know that there were a few people who you could really on and. .is that  
so?

JS: Yes. Of course, communication from the inside - the  fence to the outside was kind
of nil, but then I had a high school teacher who I corresponded with him and I d idn’t  
write everyday or anything, but we corresponded. An d I  had another high school  
teacher, who was a gym teacher and I  wrote to him. And I  had hoped that these people to  
understand our situation and yet they knew that it was wrong. This was wrong. That  
they would teach us all this up to now and then upr oot us and take us away.

RW: It was wrong. And I would say I  can’t find, an adje ctive big enough, it was a dreadful  
injustice. That's how I feel.

JS: Yes.

RW: Well, let’s see, they then, .did you go from Wdller ga directly to Tule Lake?
JS: Yes.

RW: Then I would like to ask, you talk so well, you. ki nd of answer my questions; I ’ve got  
them outlined here. Let me see, I ’ll just ask it br oadly this way  - which of the  
experiences at Tule Lake do you recall the most str ongly, which would you most lilie to  
tell me about?

what** ikey ’-tl do to* you. � �  felt this was a real political thing and I  could n ever  
get over the fact that they have such power in a ti me of hysteria. That they would do  
this kind of thing. I  thought our government was a lot stronger than this all  
hysteria. I  could never get over the fact that they  would throw us behind barbed wires  
like this.

know. .

ldb£_,a,.prisoner. .exaet&u  ■

somebody broke into the building and took everythin g. A week  - ten days, you know, and

or four families’ belongings vho were in that place  and now who took it, I ’ll never
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JS: Well now it was.  .in Tule Lake, there were so many things that sort of stuck into me.  
That is to say, I  had two uncles, a cousin and abou t two-three distant cousins and my  

folks in the same camp. Okay, now to he kind of. .t o say if I  wanted to go out of  
camp, there was a lot of opposition. You know what I  mean? Because one of my other  
cousins wanted to go out and there was quite a comm otion. You don't want to break up a  
family in time of that condition, you know, to have  all thiŝ  kind of thinĝ  going °n  
to break up - to say I'm going to leave camp or som ething like that. Having all these  
relatives in the same camp, it was kind of hard. It  was kind of hard to say, 'I want  
to do this; I  want to do that.' And yet it comes ab out the why should I  or who am I  to  
believe now? Because when this registration came ou t about loyalty and this and that,
I  said, 'Gee, you know, they put us behind bars, ba rbed wires, and would force thi 	�

kind of question on you.' This bothered me. After g iving a lot of thought about it, I  
said, 'Ho, I'm not even going to register.' I  mean,  this seemed like kind of wrong and  
y e t / 1  said, 'They lift you right out and everything  and says loyalty oath, this and  
that.' You know that 27-28 questions whatever it wa s, that really bothered me, so I  
let it go. I  said ’I 'm not even going to register.'  This was the position I  took and  
I  let it go at that. Until the latter part of my ca mp days, one day my brother says,  
'Well, I'm going to leave camp.' And I  said, 'Wait a minute, I'm going to go too  
then.' And in order to do this you had to get clear ance from security. And then this  
27-28 questions come up, you got to register this a nd that . I  said, 'Well, fine.'  So  
I  registered and got cleared. Of course, they had m e registered with another fellow in  
camp by the same name, and I  was on a stop list, an d I  had to make out a two page  
affidavit at the camp attorney's office there and t hen I  got cleared and. my brother anu  
I  left. The loyalty question that was put on us, I thought it was unfair and yet, I  
had no affiliation that I'm going to sabotage anyth ing . It never came to my mind how  
I'm going to sabotage anything. Ib^wiever'-came~tcr yixy~mind-4iow-~lYm~going~-tcrsdbotage  

V  anything. They would ask these questions, you know.  But then in early part of 1945;  

1944-45, my brother and I  left the camp.

RW: J was going to say, back to the loyalty question - fr om your rememberance waŝ  this
feeling of ignoring it, largely by your own thought , your own decision or did you. .  

were you at all influenced by your parents or relat ives? ^  # ,
JS: No, it was no influence of this or that. After thin king it over, I  said, 'Gee, this is  

a most unfair thing for them to ask. '

RW: I  would agree. And you took it as your responsibili ty.
JS: On my own. I  took it on my own and I  did it. There was a fellow who was working in

legal aid over there and I  told him, 'Look, I'm not  going ot turn nothing in because I  
feel, that this is very unfair to be this kind of q uestion to me. You know, behind  
barbed wires and say this and that without even say ing I'm guilty or anything, they have  
uplifted me from my. .where I  lived and we're in a camp like this, I said, it doesn't  
seem right that they would put this question to me.  This is strictly on my own that I  

did it.

RW: You were a young man then and I  can appreciate that . As you and I  both know, there
were a lot of things that happened at Tule Lake. It  was a long and sometimes, .well,

there was the farm strike you know, and then the ar my rule. . •
JS: Yeah, tanks running through the camp there one nigh t. These are so vivid in my mind  

that I  said I could hardly believe this. But then i t did happened. That night when  
the tanks came rolling into the camp, some how or a nother I was in bed already at 	����

and I  heard this man or somebody hollering for help , and so, like a fireman I got into
my. .got dressed and walked outside and here I  find  this man that lives in the next
block and he had a club about three feet long and r unning through the block and he  
says, 'I think we killed somebody.' I  said, 'W,hat do you mean, you killed somebody?'  
'Well, these people were waiting at the warehouse, people from the other camp that was  
harvesting the potatoes and things, they came after  food from the ice box and then were  
waiting there and got into a big fight.' The club h e had was about three feet long and  
I said 'My gosh, what do they have now, you know.' But then it just happened, he went
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/jS: through our block, I  was in block 14, and he came t hrough there and no sooner did he  
come through there, then we hear all this roaring a nd. everything, and there were all  
these tanks coming through the firebreaks and every thing. I  think they*re shooting  
blanks, but then they � re shooting. And the whole camp was up and rushing  toward the  
administration building. Right at that point I  had my younger brothers and I  said,  
'Wait a minute, we just wait right here, we're not going to move»' And let the other  
people»»they all rushing toward the administration building, and I  said, 'No, we're  
staying right here»' It sort of subsided and about an hour or hour and a half or so  
and I  said, 'My gosh, what happened?' But then we n ever knew» Nobody knew, you know»  
But then my sister, my older sister, who is a nurse , working at the hospital, she was  
on duty that night at the hospital and they couldn' t come home» And the next morning  
going to work the army had put a line where the hig h school and the wards there, they  
put a barricade right through there that we couldn' t cross the line no more» I  think  
it was about 10:00 or 11:30 when everybody got up t o the line» To disperse the crowd,  
they let go of some smoke bombs or whatever it was and everybody was tearing and walked  
back» But I  had understood that maybe as much as fo rty to fifty per cent of the people  
of the camp were in the administration area that ni ght» And they got caught in there  
and they had to be more or less screened to get bac k. But fortunately we didn't get  
mix up in that and we just stayed on our* side» The y knew that a lot of these people  
were no trouble makers or anything» But then they d id screen out, I  don't know, about  
20G-250 people and kept them in a compound or somet hing like that»

RW: In a stockade»
JS: We didn't go to work for a month or two months, som ething like that» I  don't know and  

it was kind of frustrating because we were in block  14 and our neighbors were kind of  
hard core people and you couldn't talk» We couldn't  talk to do this or do that and  
they would hear a lot of hearsay and then they woul d say things»

RW: It was that?
JS: They would say things, it's all hearsay, they don't  know»

RW: Yeah, rumor»
JS: Things got kind of sour in our block  - the nurses couldn't come home from the hospital  

and the military police would come with a cart to p ick up her uniform» And you could

RW: What block did you live, in?
JS: Block 14»

RW: Block 14»
JS: There were nosey people and I  said, 'No, they just came after her uniform»' So that

They were very nosey people, they haven't got anyth ing to do, so I  guess this is the  
way it goes»

RW: Did you find the strike hard on you; what did you d o during that period when there was  
no work and stuff?

JS: Well, there was nothing we could do* Of course, bei ng a family of nine we had two
apartments and four of us boys slept in one of the apartments and we had a little* »not  
a workshop, but we did things to keep busy» And the n we twiddle around ? and this  
and that but nothing much to do and when they start ed to call the meetings to go back  
to work, I sort of even hesitated to go there becau se the people in our block were so,
I  don't know, nosey people, that they would say thi ngs» I  was one of the first group  
to go back, but I  was because. . .

was it. They always thought there was something els e more to it and this and that.
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RW: You mean, to. go book to work?
JS: Yes, Because I  was in charge of the kitchen  - there were 74 kitchens in the camp and I

was in charge of the supply and they needed this an d that, so I  went back. I  had two
helpers and we supplied soaps and whatever. On thes e things, nobody harrassed us or  
anything for going back. Though our neighbor was ki nd of nosey, you know, . .

RW: You could say, you just didn't feel comfortable wit h the nosey neighbors,
JS: Yes, that's right. But then it was better than just  loafing around everyday. Then

things sort of broke loose and everybody started go ing back to work,

RW: Let me see, the people voted to stop the strike and  they had this Coordinating  
Committee for a while, you remember?

JS: Yes,

RW: And then of course, I  guess you were working, I  was  there then and then I  came in
March of 1944, • .the administration let me come in .

JS: There was one of my classmates in high school  - she must have been a social worker or  
not, her name was Marjorie George, I  think, and she  used to. .I  remember her, was in my
high school class anyway, graduating class, and whe n we did evacuate she was at the
auditorium registering or checking our registration  and I  think she came into camp one  
time, I  saw her and that's about it. And there's an other fellow that came in, I  can't  
think of his name, but I  saw a couple of them that came into our camp, to see friends,  
you know and that was about the extent of the peopl e.

RW: I  was going to say, there was this very sad and ter rible thing when Mr. Okamoto got  
shot and then after that lots of people I  was talki ng to they got very scared of the  
inu and they said that the Cooperative Enterprises were grafting and taking, .do you  
remember that at all?

JS: Well, I  lived in block 30 before the segregation ca me. Mr. Okamoto, I  got to know them  
before we left block 30 and came to block 14. The f act that they did not press any kind  
of charge or whatever it is, that they  (long pause) oh-went right along with the army  
and the opposite end of this that they thought they  were informers, you know.(I ) But  
what could they do? That's what I  said, 'We're behi nd wires.' And there was nothing  
they could do. I  don't know what kind of compensati on or thing they got. But it was a  
sad thing and the people said  (that) they are with the administration. Nothing good  
was said, but I  could feel for them that they were put in such a situation that well,  
we lost. .from what heard of him, what could we doi  we lost a brother and we can't do  
anything in this position. So what kind of compensa tion they got, I  don't know either,  
but then they felt real bad. And on top of that to be called informers or something  
like that, I  thought was terrible.

RW: They were called informers?

JS: Well, that's what they thought they were.

RW: (appaulled) Oh my goodness. This inu calling got very, very str ong a couple of weeks  
after Mr. Okamoto was shot and especially when the army didn't do anything and the  
soldier who had done the shooting, you know, was ju st sort of. .

JS: • .taken away.

RW: taken away, yes.

JS: . .and they don't know if he was punished or what, no  one knew. But then, all in all,
you say, talking with my friends, we talk and say, 'What kind of justice is that? They  
throw citizens, uproot them, and throw us in camp, so what could you eo^ect.' This was  
some of our thinking that went on, but I  said, 'It' s kind of hard to say, oh, they  
punished him or they put him in jail.' Who knows ho w far it went  - or did they? Or  

_____ was he just transferred and that was it.

[1. Listening to the tape, I conclude that Mr. Sawa da is telling me that Mr. Okamoto's  
family were thought to be informers because they di d not press charges against the  
authorities after Mr. Okamoto's death.]
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RW: I  wondered did. you remember Mr . Noma being murdere d, you know he was the head of the  
Co-op? How did that affect you and your family?

JS: No, it didn't affect.  .well I  said, ’Gee, you know, he was just trying to  be good and  
running an organization or company or store like th at, to be assassinated like that. ’
It sure is something. Now I would say, ’Is there th at much jealousy in our people?’
And now from way back when I  was in high school or this and that, people would say, a  
partnership among Japanese people are very difficul t to conduct and this was always  
said.  J said, ’Why is i t? ’ He said, ’Well, one doesn't trus t the other,* And this is  
the kind of philosophy that goes on in the Japanese  group. A partnership, a Japanese  
partnership is never successful because one doubts the other. I  said, ’Maybe there was  
somebody else that wanted that kind of position. ’ And then this happened. So I  said,  
'Well, I  don ’t care to be in that kind of position. ’ But then to me what he was doing,  
good, bad or otherwise, I  don’t know. It didn't see m to affect me in that sense. I  
said the man was. .to me he was doing a good job, b ut to others, I  don't know.

RW: Well, when I  was there, I  noticed after he was murd ered a lot of people got even more  
scared to go to the administration area or to show,  .be friendly to any Caucasians.

JS: That’s true.

RW: Because they might be called inu and everybody knew  what happened.
JS: I  used to go in and out of the administration build ing quite a bit. Two-three times a  

day. And I used to pass Mr. Jacoby’s office and I s aid, 'Hello, Mr. Jacoby.' Very  
friendly fellow, nice fellow and then I ’d go into M r. Peck’s office and get things  
done, and get requisitions, this and that and be do ne with it. I  don ’t know, people  
are funny, you know. Dr. Jacoby, I  had high respect  for him a very good man, I  don ’t  
know. I  got along with all these people. I  did what  I had. to do.

RW: You weren’t bothered, .nobody called you a dog for doing that?(l )
JS: No, you know, I  had 74 kitchens to take care and I  was busy.

RW: You were a responsible man.
JS: Yeah, so I  went to each kitchen at least twice a we ek, you know and on the side I used  

to take care of the trouble they had, that is the u tensils, the dishes, this and that,  
and I  took care of it. I  got along with all the kit chens • There isn't one that I  say  
'You don ’t do this for me or this or that.' No, I  k ept even keel with every one of  

t}iem and they had no problems.

RW: That was a real contribution. That makes me feel go od to hear it. I  was going to talk  
about something that was very dramatic when I was t here - this started September,  
October and got much stronger during the end of 194 4 - the people who wanted to be  
resegregated. They said, 'The other people who said  ’yes,yes’ or didn't answer, we  
want to be put in a place ijfoere we ’re separate fr om them. And then they started their  
young men’s organization and it got to a place wher e they would drill in the morning  
and say ’washo ’. Do you remember that? And I  was w ondering what your reaction was to  
that and whether that made you any trouble?

JS: No. That group of people. There were a lot of them that I  knew that was in that
thing, but while maybe you don ’t recall, but Sunday  mornings, my friends that use to  
run food for the kitchens, Sunday mornings, four or  five of us that used to deliver  
milk. And I  used to check out a truck Sunday mornin g and got to the warehouse and  
load our truck up with milk and we went through abo ut three trucks would be checked  
out, we went through delivering milk to each kitche n. These people would be running  
across the firebreak and this and that. But it didn 't seem to bother me. Or we should

_____ belong to there and being doing that instead of thi s. It never has bothered me.
[1. I learned something new from this conversation.  In June of 1944, when the hostility  
toward inu was most intense, the men who were assau lted because they were considered inu  
were all Issei or older Kibei. Mr. Sawada was 19. Oc casionally a Nisei, in his late  
twenties was threatened. (See Bob Kurusu)
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They never pressurd you or your family?
No» Of course, a lot of people said 'Oh, it's good for you»' It was good, hut the  
motives behind it was not the thing that I  liked. T he regimentation in that sense.
*This I didn't want. Because in camp we had a lot o f time. And due to that fact, I
took up Judo, and our hall and or the gym, the plac e where we practiced was in block
40. And then - there were 6-7 places there they did  Judo in the camp. One in each
ward. We would go to our place to practice one nigh t and then we would go to three or  
four other places to practice and I  kept busy like this for oh, quite a while. I  had  
enough exercise and everything that I  said, 'No, I  don't need - exercise in the morning  
is good, but I  don't need that type of regimen.'

Did you know Mr. Kodama who had the black belt? Was  he one of the teachers?
Be was one of them. There were quite a few good tea chers in that camp. I  went through
most of places to practice. I  used to practice four -five nights a week. So it kept me  

pretty busy and I  enjoyed it.

I'd say, if you knew Judo so well, people wouldn't be incline to threaten you. You  
could take care of yourself.
But then you know I  enjoyed it and the people that I  worked with, helped with, we had  
our own minds and we did what we had to do and stay ed away from what seemed to be  
trouble and kept not to close with people who were always looking for trouble. I  sort  
of stayed away from them.

That sounds very sensible to me.
As far as I  was concerned. Right after that trouble  we had with tanks, we had a  
curfew. The curfews were one thing. I  said, 'I don' t have to monkey around with  
curfew.' So make sure I  was home and not running ar ound the block with a jeep chasing  
after you and this and that. There was a friend of mine that  (was) always dashing  
across the firebreak and the jeep is after him, you  know, and I  said, 'Oh my God, what  
are you going to do if you get caught?' He said, 'W ell, what could they do to you?'

Rut you into the stockade.
Yeah, but then a few young fellows, you know, they used to have these ash pits and one  
fellow tells me he ran in and fell in an ash pit an d he stayed in there. I  said, 'Gee  
whiz, if that was hot, what would you do?' You woul d have gotten burned and it  
wouldn't be worth that kind of monkeying around. Th ere were a few people that /would  
run into those pits and they thought it was kind of  silly and good thing it wasn't hot  
that they didn't get burned. But then I  didn't want  to get mixed up with any kind of.
• •

Were these people running resegregationists or were  they just young kids. . .
No, these were just some of my friends that I  knew and they just overstayed the hours  
and then they had to get back and they had to cross  the firebreak.

Oh I see. They were young men having a good time.
Having a good time, yeah, but then I  said, they kne w they wouldn't shoot, so that they  
thought all. .most they could do would get caught a nd maybe reprimanded somehow, but  
then they were sure they'd be let go. But I  made a point and I  said, 'No, I  wouldn't  
be caught out there under any kind of circumstances .'

That was wise. When did you leave Tule Lake?
I left in '45, oh was it August, July or something like that.  
Pocatello, Idaho.

And we went to

In Idaho. And did you have a position or job there?
No, one of my friends was over there. He wasn't a m echanic but he was doing some  
mechanic work and just to get over there, we just w ent there to his place. And then  
from there we went to work for a farmer right outsi de of Pocatello, community by name  
of Blackfoot. And then we worked for a farmer there  to harvest potatoes.
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RW: Were you among those who were restricted from going  back to the coast or .  • •
JS: No. we couldn’t go back to the coast yet, so we har vest potatoes, alfalfa work, sugar

beets. And then our friend said, ’There was a man w ho needs help in Twin Falls. He's  
got to get his potatoes in. ’ So we went to Twin Fal ls for about three-four weeks and  
came back to near Pocatello and we did some potatoe  packing, (?) sacking. And when the
release came that we could go back to the West coae t, then we came back.

RW: I  see. And what did you do on the West Coast?
JS: Well, I  went back and what we did, my brothers, wel l I  went to a nursery in East

Oakland, San Lorenzo, at the San Lorenzo nursery an d I  worked there for about a year and
then in 1946 because my folks were living in Sacram ento in a hostel, my brother and I  
thought we should make a little more money and get a place for them to stay. So in ’46
my brother and I  went on a farm, that is to say, hi t the season. And we started out

- with asparagus and then apricots, peach, pear, wh atever and then we spent ’46 up to end  
of December doing seasonal work and then we bought a little home for our folks. . .

RW: Oh, that’s nice.
JS: • • .and then I  went back to the nursery after that. In  1947, .January, 1947 I  went

back to the nursery.

RW: And how did you come eventually to get to Illinois?
JS: Well, the nursery gob was eight hours work. So I  st arted going ot night school, taking  

up radio. My line was accounting, but I  thought, so mething, .that will come in, you  
know, .so I started in radio, but I  d idn’t know ele ctricity-. So I kept on going there  
and there was a nice teacher at that school, Haywar d High School by the name of Mr.  
Nelson. He said he would teach me, you know, but yo u got to get on these things good  
or you don ’t. So I  saved my money at the nursery an d then I  read about this coin  
school here in Chicago, so I  wrote to them and the tuition was about $500.00, so I  
saved enough money, I  paid the tuition and I  came t o Chicago; I  paid the tuition and I  
had $1,800.00 to my name and I  came to school.

RW: Now you are an expert electrician, is that your. . .
JS: I  said I  was going into television, but this electr icity was so fascinating, so at this  

coin school they teach you how to do motor repairin g, radio, but motor was so  
fascinating, I  stuck with motor repairing and I ’ve been in this thing for the last  
what 33 years and I ’m on my own now.

RW: And you’re married and have children?
JS: Well, I ’m married and have one daughter and my wife  passed away last year.

RW: Oh, I ’m sorry.
JS: Kind of hectic, .but trying to get on the track aga in.

RW: Well, you have really, .it was almost like you have  thought it all out beforehand.
JS: Well, these things live with you, it's kind of a sa d thing, and yet kind of hard to  

forget it and go, a n d i t  sticks with you.

RW: And I myself don ’t think any of us should ever forg et the injustice in taking a  
citizen. . .

JS: Yes, this is kind of hard to say this and say that.  But what amazes me a lot, was that  
the people in the Midwest. They do not know about t his.

RW: Yes, I found that out too.
JS: When I first came to Chicago, and they say we thoug ht of Japanese ancestry was all  

buck-toothed and you know and this and that like th ey show in the comics, and they  
thought we were some kind of a freak. But then they  say these people are a little  
different. The picture they got from these cartoons  or whatever it is, is kind of very  
misleading. And they say, ’Gee, the good points com e down, I  wish some of this rubs
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JS: off onto my kids.' And this and that, hut it is har d that they thought they were all  
buck-toothed and kind of a freak • I  said, 'How could you think in that terms nken  
human beings are human beings •' They said that was  the kind of picture they drew, so  
what are you going to do • But then, it's kind of hard •

RW: J was going to say that some people after I  talked tc  them, they sometimes think of  
things they wished they told me, so I ’ve developed a technique here in interviewing,  
even at my age, I  learn • .If you don't mind I  might call you back in a week or so, and  
gust have a short talk, would that be all right?

JS: Yes • J knew you were calling, but I'm in and out; sometime s I'm hard to get hold of  •

RW: I'll keep trying . I'm persistent . You know I  lived in Tule Lake and I'm persistent . 
This was very moving and it is a beautifully organi zed story, and it's gust one  
of the nicest interviews I've had • I  do thank you • Okay, thank you, good bye •

JS: Good bye •
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John Sawada

John Sawada is Thomas Sawada's younger brother.' He now lives in Illinois.  

I asked him, ’‘When did you leave Tule Lake.”

iffr-tehnore»» And we went to Pocatello, Idaho.

RW; t o d ^ L d  you have a position or job there?

JSi No, one of my friends was over there. He wasn't a  mechanic  

but he was doing some mechanic work,/&jtnd just to gp t over there, we

j  d to harvest

potatoes.

t ttfced 4%pjik , i o ^ p a v i f i t  w t h  o r ..

release camejw**©*« we could go back to the West coast, the n we came  

back.

JSi i k i l xf I went back and vrh rdr twr diiiWniTny h r ^ h  rr " t  ’TT*! * ■ *T went 

to  a nu rsery  in  E ast Oakland, San 1^1 euro# a t—theB̂ah

I worked there for about a year and then in 1946 beca use  

my folks were living in Sacramento imhostel, you oall -frfrgBB my

JSi I left in '45, S T  was it August, July or something  like that*

- jarnt went t t a e  to his place, yo*«dmow fend from th ere w^m aoririb, we  

went to work for a farmer right outside of Pocatello

couldn't go back to the coast yet, so we harvest  

potatoes, alfalfa work, sugar beets ,fand  then our friend said,1 *ihere  

was a man who needs help in Twin Palls, W> (lie's got  to get his potatoes  

i ^  io  we went to Twin Palls for about 3-4 wedcŝ /an d-is^mo bcwlr-t5

an f id  some- p o j^ tg u p a c k  i n g , % ¡sacking« And when th e  

RW t S m t w . And what did you do on the West Coast?
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I feel grateful that I could at least speak and hel p t  some 

other people. There are a lot of so-called ipxnK Ja panese 

refugees out her t̂ Jroo. They're here from Maimoto (?) and 

Kabushima. So these are some of the people that I^m  able to help. 

I fell that I'm not that x * x m  strong in Japanese, bu t at least

I can carry on. • •
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brother and I thought we should make a little more m oney and get  

a place for them to stay. So in *46 my brother and X went  on a  

farm, that is to say, hit the season. And we started out wit h  

asparagas and then apricots, £each, pear, whatever an d then we  

spent up to end of December doing seasonal work and the n we  

bought a little home for our folks..

RWt — Oh , thTirt1 -~**-*'**̂-

,iW\d then -I went »

Uw January, 19^7 I went back to the nursery.

RWi And how did you come eventually to get to Illinoi s?

JSi Well, the nursery job was 8 hours work. So I started g oing  

to night school, taking \pp  radio. My line was accounting, but I  

thought, something, .that will come in, you know..J> o I started in  

radio* #ut  I didn't know electricity« J o  I kept on going there and

there was a nice teacher at that school
m m»

Iliiywopd t!i"h^nhnnl nr* by the name of Mr. Nelson,s aid toe would  

teach me, you know* ingar^good or

So I saved my money at the nursery and then I read  

about this coin school here in Chicago* J o  I wrote to  them and

the tuition was about $ ���. ��* So I saved enough money, I paid

the tuition,and I came to Chicago i 1 I had
\

$1800.00 to my name and I came to school.

^ T i ^T i  said I was going into television, SSut this electricit y  

was so fasc mat ing*  how

mnf.r>r r  ̂nalaagjg -.. nadio. - but -motor was s 1  

stuck with motor repairing and I've been in this thing  for the

2os& wfa«* 33 years and I'm on my own now.  

RWi And you're married and have children?
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p JSl Well, I ’m married and have 1 daughter and my wife passed away  

last year.

KWi Oh, I*m sorry.

JSi Kind of hectic*,but trying to get on the track a gain.---

of Japanese ancestry was all buck-toothed

ti*rt like they show in the comics, &nd they thought we were some kind  
<JL

of^freak. But then they say these people are a little  different.

The picture they got from these cartoons or whatever  it is, is kind  

of very misleading*^

complemented Mr. Sawada on how wel l  he had toldMr. Sawada on how,well he had told me his life, histor y. He said:

N Well, these things live with you, i kind of a sad thingjjh And

yet kind of hard to forget it and go and it sticks with  you. « « <

KW: I myself think none of us should ever forget the inj ustice of taking

a citizen .........  .

<3>S: (Interrupts)

JSri 3fog, this is kind of hard to say»this mié a a y . tfESFte* But what

amazes me a lot,was that the people in the Midwest*, ey d o not know  

about this.

RW* Yes.*, tffo.
i- u

JSi 'Ferrete wien I first came to Chicago, snd they  say;Me  thought

I said, "How could you think in ;that terms when human b eings  

are hman beings. They saidy,€hat was the kind of pic ture they drew^  

jfo whfc are you going to do! 'vjMQ? ^  ,
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RWi— Yeah.

RWi What do you remember about your life before the e vacuation, what  

w e ® e  you doing and.« ,

JSi I was..going to Bfft  year in college.

RWi First year in college.

JSi Yes.

RWi And what were your plans, let me see, what were your  hopes for  

the future? What did you plan to be?

JSi Well, I had- all ray high school was my commercial studies* ‘‘ihat

is to say, bookkeeping, accounting, and this line./kn d I had anticipated  
A

at that time, I loved accounting and everything so much, th at I planned  

to go^into higher accounting jobs, you know, accounting, CPA, and this  

and that. This was my goal.

RWi And where were you living then?

JSi In Sacramento.

RWi In Sacramento. And how did your parents earn their  living?

JS* They were on a farm.

RWi Thep were farmers, yes. And, let me see, I might ask  now, were  

you b o m  in Sacramento and what year?

JSi I was born in Sacramento in 1922. July 5» 1922.

RWi Can you tell me how you felt when you heard the g overnment announce  

ment that the Japanese American people were going to be o rdered to leave  

their homes and report to the assembly centers?

JS* I remember I was at school when they posted all this thing out  

on the highway. You know, the highway right in front of  our school  

there, Sacramento Junior College* And the order came ou t and you see
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all these posters on the street. And I said, "Well, maybe I s houldn't  

let this thing bother me." But then things were so e rratic - I never  

believed it, you know, but it was there.

RWi Can I just ask you - it was so*.

JSt It was real disturbing. Well, it's kind of hard to concentr ate  

with this kind of atmosphere, you know. And so, I didn't  know what  

to do, but anyway, I said maybe I should finish and I  tried to finish,  

but everything, the whole school itself was in a roar, too, you know  

what I mean?

RWi No, I'd like to hear about that.

JSi Of course, there were a lot of Japanese students in that school
5Q

and everybody is just sort of giving up. And I said, pee,  I would  

like to finish this semester." But everything was suc h a hectic  

thing to do, that it was that it all came down to a poi nt if you  

got an "A" in a class, you settled for a " B V  If you got a "B", you  

settled for a "C". You know, it went that way and so it  finally ended  

up that I think I left school February, March, April-  about a month and  

a half or two months before the semester ended.

RWi Did you ever get credit for that semester?

JSi Since I did not go back in the same line of course, that is  

to finish accounting, I didn't even look into whethe r I got credit  

for it or not.

RWi I see. I can appreciate that too. I was going to t ell you that  

a fair number of people, ask this question - who wer e about your age -  

when it happened, that they tell me they just couldn't  believe it at  

first.

JSi That's right. I told my brother, I said, "Paul, they' ll never  

take us, I mean.we have to go." This was my ultimate deduction,  

you know. "We're citizens," I said. Yes, my folks,they might h ave
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to take, or you know, but they will never take..evacuate us from  

our home. This was my honest belief. As everybody arou nd in my  

neighborhood sold their equipment,their household t hings and every�

thing, X said, "(lie’ 11 never go." So we kept e v e r y t h i n g ^  didn't  

even bother to sell things or anything and until abo ut V d a y s  before  

evacuation.And then I told my brother, I said, "Look, gee,  you know,

I'll never believe this, but it looks like we're going to  

have to go." And he said, "Yeah, it sure looks like it. " But we  

didn't sell anything up to that time... a week befor e evacuation.

When we came right down to it, I said, "Gee, it looks li ke theyk 20. ̂  

/realljĵ  going ”t ^  pull us out«” So, X said, MWe*ll h ave to do something#  

because,it sure looks like w e goAttflrt»  have to go. No w, on this  

basis we had the farm equipment and everything and the crop and  

everything, X said, ^wfell, let ’s see what the best thin g we can do#

And so, we had some good friends, Caucasian friends ^and so in

Sacramento iJ>*yuu" knew , there is a man by the name  of John Brunner,  

a furniture store, a very well-to-do man# And we kne w this man from  

a while back through some misfortune,that is to say, my brother got  

into an accident and Mr. Brunner’s car was one of them  that got hit.  

And we got to know this man and my mother had purchase d some  

appliances..gas range or something from him and she was paring for  

it and we got to know this man. So, a very nice man, and so my 

brother went to see Mr. Brunner and said”I got all th is equipment  

I have to do something - I thought we'd never move, bu t we got  

to do something - it looks like we are going to have to go.” But  

he said, "Well, fine, wait a minute."" He had a brother-in-law who 

lived about 3-4 miles from where we were farming an d he said he needs
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some equipment and said, "Maybe we could take it off your hands."

So, he said "fifcay" and we contacted him and we just so ld all our equip�

ment to this man without losing any money, which wa s..we were  

fortunate. So we transferred everything to this man and we got rid

of the equipment. Now, we kept the truck to the end. We sa id, "We'd  
\aA*~

like to krop^the truck to the end, because we have to.. the owner of the

land..the ranch we were farming, said,1 >tfky don't  you put all your

bedding and things in my basement of ji^house that he has on this

farm and then lock it up." So we did all this and l ocked it up and

everything and then the last day he came after the tru ck and then we..

the family that was supposed to leave about 3-4 days l ater, he held onto

his truck too, which was sold and he had it and he too k it to the Critic

Auditorium, where we were suppose to congregate.
»*

RWi I see. .ment&eft..how many brothers and sisters

did you have?

JS* There are 7 brothers and sisters. There are 4 boy s and 3 girls,  

and my folks.

RWi Where were you in this lineage, were you the second  boy or...

JSt I'm the third one.

RWi You're the third, yes. I'm glad you told this story, be cause  

you're one (¿the few who were able to do this, as you proba bly know.

T^sk Many people lost everything they had .

JSi Well, like I told ray brother, "they'll never forc e us to go,  

because we're citizens*" We're citizens and no way in the world  

that they could force us. So it is war , yes, but we 're citizens.

But the picture Iboked real grim and the last week, I said, " &ee,  

you know, it sure look bad, that we might have to go." So we  sort  

of straightened everything out in 3-4 days which was unb elievable,  

because we got rid of the equipment and we had some  crops that were
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coming out and I said, "Gee, what are we going to do with t his*” I  

think we were just gcfag to have to leave it. And fortun ately a man

I don't know, my brother put some price on it and he went  to the bank  

and he got everything settled and he sold the whole thin g. We were  

kind of fortunate that things worked out like this. But  X would never  

had believed that we had to leave.

JSi Wallerga.

RWi Wallerga. W*s there anything that happened in that

assembly center, that makes you feel good today when you thin^ about it?  

J S * No. My deduction of the camp of that nature, not hing good could

there? Kitchen work, maintenance and they had nothing to do. No

I was old enough to figure that "No, nothing good i s going to come out

of this. ..at this assembly center because people were just lo afing,

you-knew. Which of jour experiences in the assembly cen ter do you  

recall the most strongly?

JSi In assembly center?

RWs Yes.

JSi Well, one thing that I never could get over was how w as it that  

a citizen like us, we were born here and a citizen c ould be behind  

barbjvire without..I learned in history..innocent u ntil proven guilty.  

And this whole thing come true and we're behind barbe d wire with

came and said he wants to buy the crop. So we said;flne?* And so

/v^hich assembly center were you sent?

come out* (that is to say, yes people are working, but  how much work is

and they had more time on their hands and I said, "Wel l, I have  

busy because there is too much time."

RWi



page 7 # 183 John Sawada

soldiers watching us from the outside* This is somethin g that I could  

never believe that this country would do. And I felt, " gee, is this  

what they’ve been teaching us all this time." It reall y comes down  

to that you study history, you study the 6onstitution an d is this  

what it all adds up to, they could just lift you up, take  you away,  

and throw you in the camp like this because of my ancestry . This is  

reallyfihit me hard and I said, "Well, I can’t change it ? I'm born,.

What ah I going to do?" But what they'll do to you..I felt this was 

a real political thing and I could never get over th e fact that they  

have such power in a time of hysteria. That they would d o this kind  

of thing. I thought our government was a lot stronger tha n this all  

hysteria. I could never get over the fact that they would throw us  

behind barbed wires like this.

RW* You had done no wrong at all.

JSi That's it and they would throw us behind barbed w ire and give  

you a number and, you know..

RWi ..like a prisoner... exactly.

JSi I thought, "Gee, now what am I to believe; whom a m I to believe."

These are the questions that bothered me. About the se cond week we

were in the assembly center, we got a letter from this fello w we use*-

to lease the land, the farm..and he said some®»? broke i nto the building

and took everything. A week - jic^days, you know, and I  said "Gee, how

rotten are the people?" I could never get over this. You r e in an

assembly center, military police are around guarding you - who wants

to escape? You know what I mean? We have no way of gett ing away.

And yet here's a man wte©Nwrote us a letter saying that  someone broke

in and took all of our belongings. This was p or ft  families belongings

who were in that place amd now who took it, I'll ne ver know. Whether
n |

he sold it, rf-i43: n W e ir know. And these are things that c ome about.
A
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It really frustrated me. I said, "Gee,"you know, it's so hard to say

e • •

] 0  So, anyway these are the things that bothered me. I said, "I could  

never get over this." That we are behind barbed wire, I could hardly

believe it.

RWi Ji/es.

JSi I knew there were friends outside that understo od, you know.

There was Mr. Pastalockwa, who was my accounting tea cher at the Junior  

College, and he had an empty garage that we bought s ome things over for  

him to hold and he was very nice about it. We left lit tle things like  

old typewriters and things like that with him and w e didn’t lose it or  

anything and he was very good about it and we claimed  it after the  

war and this and that. He was really somebody that I said, W ell^gives  

me a little hope, you know. And I had this kind of belief,  but then

I would never believed that they had uplifted u s ...

RW* ..and done that to you. I have a question that I h estitate

to ask. . who th ar  Had

tsuoape. w ith,-4t«helpeiiv iybWt# me now � � � � ��

h * a i # n ^  a n s w e r e d  b y  saying that ̂ you’re onfe. ît was still a comfort  
■ ' 1

to know that there were a few people who you could rel y on and..  

is that so?

JSi Yes. Of course, communication from the inside - the fen ce to  

the outside was kind of nil, but then I had a high school  teacher  

who I corresponded with him and I didn’t write ever yday or anythiigg,  

but we corresponded. And I had another high school teacher, who  

was a gym teacher and I wrote to himv^nd I had hoped th at these  

people do understand our situation and yet they knew  that it was

That they would teach us all this up towrong. This was wrong.



JSI Yes.

RWi If you have time to be interviewed about your li fe history,  

w&¥l  fine, if there are any interruptions - why, you know, we can  

stop and do it again* And I wondered if there were any qu estions  

that you wanted to ask me about this study I'm doing be fore we start.

JSi Is this in a book or anything or what? Are you wri ting a term paper?  

HWi I'm 70 years old - I'm a retired professor and I was

at Tule Lake for 2 years studying there.

JSi I see.

RWi I do not have to write a book. I'm only going to writ e a report  

just for the Rockefeller Foundation and I won't use a nybody's real  

name.

JSi I see.

RWi So  they are all anonymousv and my object*^ I  had some Ja parBse  

American friends and I've interviewed them and this w as so interesting  

that I thought I would interview a few more people w ho were at Tule  

Lake.

JSt I see.

RWi My object will be to just write a report on how this a ffected  

them. What happened - so I'm getting the life history. Is that  

enough?

JS � Yes.
do

RWi Well, I'll go ahead and aski What you remember about you r
A

life before the evacuation.

JSi Just a minute, let me get a pen here.
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now and then uproot us and take us away.

RWi It was wrong*^nd I would say I can’t find an adje ctive big enough,  

it was a dreadful injustice. That ’s how I feel.

� ���� Yes.
> u  from

RWi Well, le t ’s see, they then..dd^you go /  Wallerga direc tly to  

Tule Lake?

J S� Yes.

RV/t ''(then I would like to ask, you talk so well, y ou kind

of answer my questions? I ’ve got them outlined here . Let me see,

I ’ll just ask it broadly this way - which of the expe riences at Tule  

Lake do you recall the most strongly, which would yo u most like to  

tell me about?

JS t Well, now it was ..in Tule Lake, there were so many th ings that  

sort of stuck into me. That is to say, I had 6 uncles, a c ousin and  

about distant cousins and my folks in the same camp. Oka y, now  

to be kind of..to say if I wanted to go out of camp, there  was a lot  

of opposition. You know what I mean? Because one of  my other cousins  

wanted to go out and there was quite a commotion. You d on’t want to  

break up a family in time of that condition, you know , to have all this  

kind of thing going on - to break up^to say I ’m goi ng to leave camp or  

something like that. Having all these relatives in th e same camp,  

it was kind of hard. It was kind of hard to say| I wa nt to do this?

\ I want to do that* 4nd yet it comes about the why sh ould I or who  

am I to believe now? Because when this registration came out about  

loyalty and this and that, I said, "Gee, you know, ŷ tjî put us behind  

bars, barbed wires^and would force this kind of que stion on you.”
. y

This bothered me. After giving a lot of thought abo ut it, I said,

"No, I ’m not even going to register.” I mean, this se emed,kind of
A
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wrong and yet, I said, "They lift you right out and everyt hing and  

says loyalty oath, this and that." You know that 27-28 que stions  

whatever it was, tfcePfe that really bothered me, so I let it go. I said  

"I'm not even going to register." This was the positio n I took and I  

let it go at that. Until the latter part of my camp days, one day  my  

brother says, "Well, I ’m going to leave camp." And I said, "Wai t a  

minute, I'm going to go too then." And in order to do thi s you had to  

get clearance from security. And then this 27-28 qu estions come up,  

you got to register this and that* I said, "Well, fine." So I reg istered  

and g>t cleared. Of course, they had me registered with another fellow  

in camp by the same name, and I was on a stop list, a nd I had to make  

out a jff̂ page affidavit at the camp attorney's offi ce there and then I  

got cleared and my brother and I left. ^p fcdThe  loyalty question  

that was put o n ^ W e ,  X thought it was unfair and yet,  I had «^af f i l ia �

tion that I'm going to sabotage anything. It never cam e to my mind  

how I'm going to sabotage anything. They would ask t hese questions,  

you know. But then in early part of 1945 i 1944-45, my  brother and I

left the camp.

RWi I was going to say, back to the loyalty question - from your  

rememberance was this feeling of ignoring it,Aby 'y our own thought,  

your own decision or did you..were you at all influen ced by your  

parents or relatives?

J S » No, it was no influence of this or that. After think ing it  

over, I said, "Gee, this is tte^most unfair things for the m to ask."

RW* I would agree. And you took it as your responsibility .

JSi On my own. I took it on my own and I did it. Th ere was a  

felbw who was working in legal aid over there and I t old him,



page 11 # 3^8 John Sawada

“look, I'm not going to turn nothing in because I feel^t his is  

very unfair to be this kind of question to me. You know, b ehind  

barbed wires and say this and that without even say ing I'm guilty  

or anything, they have uplifted me from my..where I lived and we're  

in a camp like this, I said, it doesn't seem right that they w ould  

put this question to me. This is strictly on my own t hat I did it.

RWi You were a young man then and I can appreciate that. As you  

and I both know, there were a lot of things that happene d at Tule  

Lake. It was a long and sometimes..well, there was the far m strike  

you know, and then the army rule..

JSi Yeah, tanks running through the camp there one night. a**d  these  

are so vivid in ray mind that I said I could hardly b elieve this.

But then it did happened. That night when the tanks c ame rolling  

into the camp, some how or another I was in bed already  at ��OO and  

I heard this man or somebody hollering for help, and so, like a fireman  

I got into my..got dressed and walked outside and h ere I find this man

.lives in the next block and he had a club about 1 feet long and
A J U  r

running through the block and^says/'I think we kill ed somebody.” I  

said, "What do you mean, you killed somebody?" Well, "These peop le  

were waiting at the warehouse, people from the other ca mp that was  

harvesting the potatoes and things, they came after food  from the
ii

ice box and then were waiting there and got into a b ig fight .t  The  

club he had was about £.feet long and I said "My gosh, w hat do they  

have now, you know." But then it just happened, he went[th rough  

our block, I was in block 14, and he came through ther e and no sooner  

Iwed he come through there, then we hear all this roarin g and everything  

and there were all these tanks coming through the f irebreaks and
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everything. I think they're shooting blanks, but th en they're  

shooting. And the whole camp was up and rushing towar d the  

administration building. Right at that point I had my  younger  

brothers and I said, "Wait a minute, we just wait right here, we' re  

not going to move." Änd  let the other people..they all rushing  

toward the administration building, and I said, "No, we' re  

staying right here." It sort of subsided and about an  hour or  

hour and a half or so and I said, "My gosh, what happened?" But  

then we never knew* Hobody knew, you know. But then my sister,  

my older sister, who is a nurse, working at the hospital,  she was on  

duty that night at the hospiiaL and they couldn't come  home* Änd the  

next morning gcfrig to work the army had put a line wh ere the high  

school and the wards there, they put a barricade right through there  

that we couldn't cross the line no more. I think it  was about 10 or  

Ili �� when everybody got up to the line/io disperse the crow d, they  

let go of some smoke bombs or whatever it was and eve rybody was tearing

people of the camp were in the administration area t hat night, ̂ nd they  

got caught in there and they had to be more or less s creened to get  

back. But fortunately we didn't get mix up in that and w e just stayed  

on our side. They knew that a lot of these people were no trouble  

makers or anything. But then they did screen out, I don't know, about  

200-250 people and kept them in a cmmpound or something  like that.

RWi In a stockade.

JSt We didn't go to work for a month or two months, so mething 33ke  

that#I don't know and it was kind of frustrating be cause we were in  

block 14 and our neighbors were kind of hard core pe ople and you  

couldn't talk. We couldn't talk to do this or do that an d they  

would hear a lot of heresay and then they would say things.

and walked back. But I had understood that maybe
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RW* It was what?

JSi They would say things, it's all heresay, they don' t know,

RW* Yeah, rumor.

JS* Things got kind of sour in our block - the nurse s couldn't  

come home from the hospital and the military police w ould come with  

a cart to pick up her uniforms^. And you could just ima gine, .what ¿iajl * 

l̂ sdaLy '̂here for?

RW* What block did you live in?

JSi Block 14.

RW* Block 14.

JS* There were nosey people and I said, "No, they just ca me after  

her uniform^. So that was it. They always thought t here was something  

else more to it and this and that. They were very nosey people, they  

haven't got anythig to do, so I guess this is the way it  goes.

RWt Did you find the strike hard on you* what did you do during that

period when there was no work and stuff?

JS* Well, there was nothing we could do. Of course, being a family

of 9 we had 2 apartments and 4 of us boys slept in on e of the apartments

and we had a little..not a workshop, but we did thi ngs to keep busy.

And then we twiddle around (if and this and that but  nothing

much to do and when they started to call the meetings to go back to  

work, I sort of even hesitated to go there because the peo ple in our  

block were so, I don't know, nosey people, that they wo uld say things.

I was one of the first group to go back, but 1  was because. .

RW* You mean, to go back to work?

JS* Yes. Because I was in charge of the kitchen - there wer e ?4  

kitchens in the camp and I was in charge of the supply  and they needed  

this and that, so I went back. I had ^he lpers  and we supp lied soaps  

and whatever
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it On these things, no body harrassed us or anythin g for gcang back*  

labour neighbor was kind of nosey, you know.*

RWi You could say, you just didn't fei. comfortable with  the nosey  

neighbors.

JSi Yes, that’s right. But then it was better than just loafing  

around everyday. Then things sort of broke loose an d everybody  

started going back to work.

RWi Let me see, the people voted to stop the strike an d they had  

this Coordinating Committee for a while, -dfc you rem ember• ^  And then

tails*of course, I guess you were working.  

gmi0S% I was there then and^I came in March of 19^^ af WE" >lhu>r.

+hpy administration let me come in.

JSi There was one of my classmates in high school - s he must have  

been a social worker or not, her name was Marjorie George, I think, and  

she used to..I remember her was in my^class anyway, g raduating class,  

and when we did evacuate she was at the auditorium re gistering or
rf“

checking oujc registration and I think she came into c amp one time.

I saw her| and that's about it. And there's another  fellow that  

came in, I can't think of his name, but I saw a coupl e of them that  

came into our camp, see friends, you know and that was abou t the

extent of the people.

RW* I was gang to say, there was this^sad and terrible thing when

Mr. Okamoto got shot and then after that lots of paple I  was talking
t/wuy. ^

to they got very scared of the and they said that the -e &rsaiî Wiis

Jobe  Cooperative fcterprises^^Q^us^kifo^ were grafting and taking ..

do you remember that at all?



FOOTNOTE" p. lit a

1, Listening te the tape, I conclude that Hr. Sawada  is telling me that

Mr. Okamoto’s family were thought to be informers because t hey

did not press  ̂charges against the authorities after  Hr. Gfkam&ta’s 
death«



page 14/Kside 2 # 2 7  John Sawada

JS* Well, I lived in block 30 before the segregation came .

Mr. Okamoto, I got to know them before we left block 30 a nd came  

to block 14. The fact that they did not press any ki nd of charge or

whatever it is, that they tfreugh* went right along with

army and the opposite end of this that they thought th ey were in-
X  �

formers, you know. But what could they do. That S( what  I said,

W e ’re behind wires. And there was nothing they coul d do. ^TI mjjw . wwn

m  compensation or thing they gofy J wbQ + ®ut it

was a sad thing and the people said^they are with the ad ministration.  

Nothing good was said, but I could feel for them that they were put  

in such a situation that well, we lost..from what heard of him, what  

could we doj we lost a brother and we can’t do anyt hing in this posi-  

±on. So what kind of compensation they got, I don’t know  either, but  

then they felt real bad. And on top of that to be call ed informers  

or something like that, I thought was terrible.

RW* They were called informers?

JS* Well, that ’s what they thought they were.

RWii/ Oh^goodness. This e»*A calling got very, very strong a  couple  

of weeks after Mr, Okamoto was shot and especially when the army didn’t  

do anything and the soldier who had done the shootin g, you know, was  

just sort of..

JS* ..taken away.

RW * taken away, yes.
4

JS* ..and they don’t know if he was punished or what, no o ne knew. "

But then, all in all, you say, talking with my friend!/ w e talk and

say ,X'What kind of justice is that] They throw cit izens, uproot them,
M

and throw us in camp, so what could you expect. This was some of  our

r
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thinking that went on, but I said, "It’s kind of hard to  say, oh, they  

punished him or they put him in jail." Who knows how  far it went -  

or did they? Or was he just-transferred and that was it.

RWi I wondered did you remember Mr.^lupbuiui being mur dered, you know  

he was the head of the 6o-op? How did that affect you  and your family?  

JSi No, it didn't affect..well I said, "Gee, you know,h e was just  

trying to be good and running an organization or comp any or store like  

that, to be assasinated like that." It sure is somethin g. Now I would  

say, Is there that much jealousy in our people? And now from way back  

when I was in high school or this and that, people wou ld a partner�

ship among Japanese people are very difficult to cond uct and this was  

always said. I said, "Why is it?" He said, "Well, one doesn't trust  

the other." And this is the kind of philosophy that g oes on in the  

Japanese group. A partnership, a Japanese partnership i s never  

successful because one doubts the other. I said, Maybe ther e was  

somebody else that wanted that land of position.*' And then this  

happened. So I said, "Well, I don't care to be in that kin d of  

position." But then to me what he was doing,good, ba d or otherwise,

I don't know. It didn't seem to affect me in that sense. I  said  

the man was..to me he was dahg a good job, but to o thers, I don't  

know.

gW» Well, when I was there, I noticed after he was murdered a  lot

of people got*more scared t-g—fro frinrxfrfry to go the administration  
r  � � Yaxa JL*  ft#

area or to show..be friendly to any Caucasians ̂ Because t hey might  

be called and everybody knew what happened.

JS» I used to go in and out of the administration bui lding quite

a bit. times a day. And I used to pass Mr. Jacoby's office
A

and I said, "Hello, Mr. Jacoby." Very friendly fellow, nice fellow



FOOTNOTE * P. 15.

1. I learned samething new fram this conversation. Shftmmannvkftnvsxtvitf/ 
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af 1 9Uh, when the Hostility toward ixy inu was mast intense, the men
because

wha were assaulted bnajEs they were cansidered inu were all Issei ar  

mr alder Kibei. Mr. Sawada was 19. Occasionally a N isei, ^nagnn in his 

late tweneties was threatened. (See Bab Kurusu)
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and then I'd go into Mr. Peck's office and get things done , and get  

requisitions, this and that and he done with it. I do n't know,  

people are funny, you know. Dr. Jacoby, I had high respec t £>r him,  

a very good man, I don't know« I got along with all these people.

I did what I had to do. *

RW* You weren't bothered..nobody called you a dog for  doing that.

JSi No« Vou know, I had 7^ kitchens to take care and I w as busy.

R W * You were a responsible man.

JS* Yeah, so I went to each kitchen at least twice a week, yo u

know and on the^side I used to take care of the trou ble they had,

that is the utensils, the dishes, this and that, and I took care of

it. I got along with all the kitchens. There isn't one that I say

"You don't do this for me or this or that." No, I kept e ven keelj*#

with every one of them and they had no problems.
1 ..

RWi That a real contribution. That makes me feel good t o hear
�

it. I* was going to talk about something that was ve ry dramatic when  

I was there - this started September, October and g ot much stronger  

during the end of 19*44 - the people who wanted to be re segregated,  

amkdtte€bt’they said, -fhe other pe<?le who said or didn' t answer,

we want to be put in a place where we're s?>arate from t hemi^nd then  

they started their young men's organization and it g ot to a place where  

they would in tie morning and say "washo". Do you r emember

that? And I was wondering what your reaction was to  that and whether  

that made you any trouble?

JSi No# "that group of people. There were a lot of the m that I knew  

that was in that thing, but while maybe you don't recal l, but Sunday  

mornings, my friends that use to run food for the kitche ns, Sunday  

mornings, b or 5 of us wfcteA used to deliver milk � pend I used to check  

out a truck Sunday morning and go to the warehouse and l oad our
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truck up with milk and we went% through about 3 tru cks would be  

checked out, we went^aBKiideJJLjwrea milk to each ki tchen. These  

people would be running across the f irebreakdiflfe a nd this and  

that. But it didn't seem to bother me. Or we should belong  to  

there and being doing that instead of this. It never has  bothered  

me.

RWi They never pressured you or your family?

JSi No. Of course, a lot of people said "Oh, it's good for you.”

It was good; but the motives behind it was not the thin g that I liked.  

The regimentation in that sense. This I didn't wantyie cause in camp  

we had a lot of time, And due to that fac^ I took up Judô  and our hall  

and or the gym, the place where we practiced was in b lock 40. And then  

there were 6-7 places where they did Judo in the camp. On e in each

�
ward. We would go to our place to pratice one night and  then we would

a

go to 3 or 4  other places Id  practice and I  kept budy like this for  

oh, quite a while. I had enough exercise and everyth ing that I saidj  

"No, I don't need — exercise in the morning is good, but I  don't need  

that regimen."

RWi Did you know Mr. ICctiui *a who had the black belt? Was he one of  

the teachers?

JSi He was one of them. There were quite a few good teacher s in  

that camp. I went through most of places to practice. I used to  

practice 4-5 nights a week. So it kept me pretty bus y and I enjoyed  

it.

HWi I'd say, if you were such ou-good Jude » ymi  knew Judo so well,  

people wouldn't be incline to threaten you. You could tak e care  

of yourself.
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JS* But then you know I enjoyed it and the people tha t I waked with,  

helped with, we had our own minds and we did what we  had to do and

stayed away from what seemed to be trouble and kept n ot to close  

jfe people who were always looking for trouble* I s ort of stayed  

away from them*

RW* That sounds very sensibb to me.

JS* As far as I was concerned. Right after that-tro uble we had with  

tanks, we had a curfew. The curfews were one thing^.I do n't have to  

monkey around with curfew*4 o make sure I was home a nd not running  

around the block with a jeep chasing after you and t his and that.

There was a friend of mine that always dashing across  the firebreak  

and the jeep is after him, you know, and I said,^"$Jwt ar e you going  

to do if you get caught?" He said, "Well, what could they d o to you?"  

RW* x Put you into the stockade.

JS* then a fewA fellows, you know^they used to have the se

ash pits and one fellow tells me he ran in and fell in  an ash pit  

and he stayed in there. I said, "Gee whiz, if that was hot, what  

would you do?" you would have gotten burned and it wouldn't

be worth that kind of monkeying around. There were a few people

rimaiaft into those pits and they thought it was ki nd of silly  

and good thing it wasn't hot that they didn't get b urned. But then  

I didn't want to get mixed up with any kind of..

RW* Tkio I ’-didn'-t gefr. Were these people running and possibly-getting

Jn resegregationists or were they just young

kids..

JS* No, these were just some of my friends that I knew  and they  

just overstayed the hours and then they had to get bac k and they  

had to cross the firebreak.
��

RW* Oh I see. They were young men having a good time.
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“Jf you don*t mind I might call you back in a week o r so, and just  

have a short talk, would that be all right?

JSi Yes. I knew you were calling, but I'm in and out? sometimes  

I'm hard to get hold of.

RW» I'll keep trying. I'm persistent. You know I liv ed in Tule Lake^f^J*  

I'm persistent. This was very moving and it is a be autifully organized  

story, and it's just one of the nicest interviews I've had.

I do thank you. Okay, thank you, good bye.

JSi GOOD bye

END OF INTERVIEW # 33^


